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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Welcome.

          3  Welcome to our little hearing.  My name is Jim

          4  Gennaro, I'm Chairman of the New York City Council

          5  Committee on Environmental Protection.  I'd like to

          6  welcome you to this hearing.  Today the Committee

          7  will hear testimony on Resolution 433, sponsored by

          8  our good friend Councilman Joe Addabbo, who will

          9  give us a little statement on this in a moment, on

         10  Resolution 433, on whether the City of New York is

         11  receiving its fair share of Bond Act funds and its

         12  impact on the City's environment.

         13                 The protection and improvement of the

         14  environment is a vital element in safeguarding the

         15  health of all New Yorkers. Simply put, if New

         16  Yorkers are to attain and maintain a healthy

         17  lifestyle, it is crucial that our State government,

         18  environmental and other organizations and businesses

         19  and civic groups adopt and support measures aimed at

         20  protecting public health and making sure we have

         21  cleaner water, cleaner air, and more open space.  To

         22  this end, in November 1996, voters of New York State

         23  overwhelming approved the 1996 New York State Clean

         24  Water/Clean Air Bond Act, which provides the money

         25  needed to improve our environment, protect the
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          2  locality, conserve our unique natural resources.  In

          3  fact, it was during I guess October 1996 when I was

          4  an analyst for this Committee that Governor Pataki

          5  himself sat at that table right there and gave us

          6  very compelling testimony as to the need for the

          7  Bond Act and gave us a lot of statements about how

          8  New York City would be represented very well in the

          9  projects that came from the Bond Act.  I think it

         10  was the first time that a sitting Governor actually

         11  testified before a City Council Committee.  Anyway,

         12  it was quite an interesting day having the Governor

         13  down here.  Here we are, seven years into the

         14  future, and it seems that New York City may not be

         15  getting all of the money that was its due from this

         16  Bond Act.

         17                 When the New York City residents

         18  voted for the Bond Act, they did so with the

         19  expectation that the City would receive its fair

         20  share of the $1.75 billion that was given to

         21  localities for projects under the Bond Act.

         22  However, it appears that there may be a disparity

         23  between the percentage of New York City's population

         24  that resides in New York City, which is 40%, and the

         25  percentage of funds received by the City, as
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          2  compared with other areas in the State.  As of the

          3  most recently published financial report from the

          4  New York City Department of Environmental

          5  Conservation, the 2000- 2001 annual report for the

          6  Clean Water/Clean Air Bond Act indicated that of the

          7  $1.32 billion of the total authorized $1.7 billion

          8  had been committed, and of the $1.32 billion, only

          9  nineteen percent or $217 million was allocated for

         10  projects to protect and restore New York City's

         11  environment.

         12                 Given New York City's large share of

         13  state population, this differential between what we

         14  got and what the rest of the state got raised

         15  several important questions.  First the most obvious

         16  is, why was only nineteen percent of the total state

         17  allocation awarded to New York City projects as of

         18  that date? Today we hope to learn why New York City

         19  has not received this fair share of Bond Act funds,

         20  and how we can prevent such funding disparities with

         21  other future state funding sources  To that end,

         22  we'll be calling our first witness soon from the

         23  DEP, Joe Singleton.  Before that, I'd like to call

         24  upon the sponsor of this Resolution, Council Member

         25  Joe Addabbo, to make a statement, after which I will
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          2  identify the rest of the members who are here with

          3  us. Council Member Addabbo?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Chairman

          5  Gennaro thank you very much for having this hearing

          6  and for inviting me here to speak.  To my other

          7  colleagues who are here today, thank you very much

          8  for being here as well as the public and those who

          9  are going to give testimony.

         10                 As Chair of the Parks Committee, a

         11  little over a year ago I had a similar hearing where

         12  we incorporated the Clean Water/Clean Air Act, along

         13  with the Environmental Bond Act.  We looked at the

         14  disparity of spending from these funding sources

         15  throughout the State and finding that the City, as

         16  we're finding out more and more, is getting the

         17  short end.  In 1996 when we voted on this

         18  referendum, at least with the Clear Water/Clean Air

         19  Act, the City basically favored this Bond Act and

         20  voted heavily for it, as we look at numbers from the

         21  downstate voters, because they really felt that we

         22  were going to get more than our fair share or even

         23  just our fair share of the $1.75 billion, only to

         24  find out now, after most of the money has already

         25  been allocated, we're basically at the tail end of
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          2  the funding, that only nineteen percent or so has

          3  been coming down to the City.  When we look at it

          4  per capita, given the population that we have

          5  downstate here, we're finding out that the

          6  disparities exist where per capita spending, $15.86

          7  in Brooklyn, per person again, per capita, $48.00 in

          8  the Bronx, then when we compare to the upstate

          9  counties it's an average of $152.00, much more than

         10  double.  So the fact is there is a disparity.

         11                 I'm hoping through this hearing we

         12  can come to a couple of conclusions.  What are the

         13  criteria?  I think the criteria for the funding,

         14  when an application is submitted, I think it's

         15  vague, and I'm hoping we can get to some clarity on

         16  that. What are the reasons for the denial of such

         17  grants?  We're having our City agencies being denied

         18  their application, yet there is no reason given for

         19  these denials.  Is it something that we can clarify?

         20    Is it something that we can correct?  We should

         21  know why we're not getting our grants funded, and

         22  why the disparity in spending, and that's

         23  historical.  That is fact.  It's already been done.

         24  Why?  Why is there such a disparity?  As we've been

         25  seeing in the City Council over a number of things,
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          2  a host of things, where the State has funded upstate

          3  counties more than downstate. So I'm hoping that

          4  with these issues, there can be some discussion and

          5  some resolve to this issue.  Once again, thank you

          6  very much for having this hearing, and to your staff

          7  as well.  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you

          9  Council Member Addabbo.  I'd like to identify the

         10  members of the Council that are here with us.

         11  Starting from my left, Council Member Koppell from

         12  the Bronx, Council Member Vallone from Manhattan,

         13  Council Member Serrano from the Bronx.  I'd also

         14  like to thank the staff of the Committee, Donna De

         15  Constanzo, Richard Colon, Josh Wojcik and Maria

         16  Alverado for their great work in getting this

         17  hearing underway. I'd like to take this opportunity

         18  to ask if there are any other members of the

         19  Committee that wish to make a statement at this

         20  time.  Council Member Vallone?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you

         22  for the opportunity.  I do need to leave soon to

         23  pick up my children from school today, so I may not

         24  be here after the testimony.  I just wanted to take

         25  this chance to commend you for having this hearing
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          2  on this very important topic, and especially Chair

          3  Addabbo for putting this Resolution in.

          4                 As many people know, I've been

          5  championing, that's a very tough word to say

          6  actually, championing a committee to study

          7  succession.  I've been actually using these numbers,

          8  which I'm very glad that you're expert staff has

          9  confirmed for me, using these numbers for months and

         10  months and months now.  I think Chairman Addabbo hit

         11  it on the head, every day as City Council members in

         12  our oversight capacity, we're coming across yet

         13  another area where the State takes our money from

         14  the City and gives it to other areas and

         15  redistributes the wealth.  We can't do that anymore.

         16    We don't have that money.  In the past we had big

         17  shoulders because we had the money.  We don't have

         18  it anymore.  Our taxes are too high; the cuts are

         19  too deep.  Whether it be stealing our 911 surcharge,

         20  whether it be education, and now whether it be

         21  environment, they take the money from the City and

         22  they put it everywhere else.  So I'm very glad that

         23  you are having this hearing to call attention to

         24  this fact, and I commend both you and Chair Addabbo.

         25    Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

          3  Council Member Vallone.  Council Member Koppell?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I don't want

          5  to prolong this, but I want to second what our

          6  colleague Peter Vallone has just said, and

          7  congratulate Joe.  I'm shocked at these numbers.

          8  It's absolutely almost unbelievable.  As the Chair

          9  well knows, we have a huge environmental program

         10  that the City is financing.  We heard testimony

         11  here, including unfortunately water filtration

         12  projects and clean water projects of all sorts.

         13  Billions and billions of dollars.  And here we look

         14  at this and see that we only got nineteen percent of

         15  $1.7 billion.  This is even more shocking to me than

         16  the education issue which had to be resolved by a

         17  court. So I'm delighted we're doing this, and we

         18  should really highlight this with the Mayor and with

         19  our representatives in Albany.  I had no idea of the

         20  dismal numbers that we see here.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         22  Council Member Koppell.  Without further adieu, I'd

         23  like to call upon our first witness, Joe Singleton,

         24  Deputy Commissioner for Budget at the New York City

         25  Department of Environmental Protection, who will
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          2  give us his testimony.  We'll first do as we always

          3  do, place the witness under oath.  I call upon Donna

          4  De Constanzo to give the oath and then proceed with

          5  your good testimony.

          6                 MS. DE COSTANZO:  Please raise your

          7  right hand.  In the testimony that you are about to

          8  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

          9  whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  I

         11  do.

         12                 MS. DE COSTANZO:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         14  Thank you, Mr. Singleton.  Thanks for being here.  I

         15  would also like to welcome the other good folks from

         16  DEP who are joining us today.  Hi, Charlie.  Okay

         17  Joe, you're on.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         19  Good afternoon Mr. Chairman and members of the

         20  Committee on Environmental Protection.  I'm Joseph

         21  Singleton from the Bureau of Management and Budget

         22  at the Department of Environmental Protection.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Try to speak

         24  right into the microphone like this.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:
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          2  I'm here to testify as to our involvement in the

          3  1996 Bond Act and where we were on applications and

          4  our results of that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'm just having

          6  a little bit of trouble because of the air

          7  conditioning or whatever, so I'll ask you to project

          8  and speak right into it.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         10  Approved by the voters in a 1996 referendum, New

         11  York State's $1.75 billion Clean Water/Clean Air

         12  Bond Act has generated environmental and economic

         13  benefits for DEP, New York City, and across the

         14  State.  I will, of course, limit my remarks to those

         15  benefits accruing directly to DEP.  Bond Act funds

         16  were originally allocated to a variety of

         17  environmental categories:  Safe Drinking Water

         18  Revolving Fund, Clean Water Fund, Solid Waste Fund,

         19  Brownfields Fund, and an Air Quality Fund.  Some of

         20  these funds were further subdivided into specific

         21  projects across the State.  Other funds are used to

         22  broadly address issues like recycling or small

         23  business compliance. Within these broad guidelines,

         24  New York City was able to access a reasonable

         25  portion of the available monies.  I will briefly
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          2  describe our efforts and results.

          3                 Safe Drinking Water.  In 1996, the

          4  Federal government amended this federal Safe

          5  Drinking Water Act, creating a drinking water state

          6  revolving fund, or SRF.  The State was required to

          7  contribute a twenty percent matching share in order

          8  to activate this program.  Subsequently, under the

          9  Bond Act, $355 million was authorized to provide the

         10  State share for this program. In practice, an SRF

         11  loan subsidy reduces the capital costs by shaving

         12  several points off the standard bond interest costs.

         13  SRF dollars are used to subsidize other financial

         14  tools used by the participants.  DEP has benefitted

         15  considerably from this program. For example, much of

         16  the capital construction on the Queens leg of the

         17  massive third water tunnel was financed through this

         18  program. All told, in the seven years of the program

         19  since its inception, more than $335 million in low

         20  cost loans, saving rate payers tens of millions of

         21  dollars in additional interest costs over the life

         22  of these loans.  There may be opportunities to

         23  expand this program as we go forward, however,

         24  strict guidelines may prevent some of our drinking

         25  water supply programs from qualifying.
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          2                 Clean Water Components.  A

          3  significant portion of that Bond Act was allocated

          4  for the Clean Water Fund.  Of the $790 million

          5  earmarked for this section, DEP was in reality

          6  eligible for a relatively small component of that

          7  money.  Money was dedicated to specific regions and

          8  specific water bodies within the State.  State led

          9  projects and projects in smaller communities also

         10  received specific earmarks.  Practically, the only

         11  Clean Water money available to the City was $200

         12  million that the State allocated to improve water

         13  quality in the Long Island Sound, and another $25

         14  million for similar efforts in New York Harbor.  To

         15  date, DEC has received commitments from the State of

         16  approximately $65 million to upgrade its Hunts

         17  Point, Tallman Island, and Bowery Bay Waste Water

         18  treatment plants.  This money will be applied to

         19  those existing capital projects, bringing them to

         20  treatment standards mandated by the State, which

         21  will improve the water quality of the Sound to

         22  levels not seen in decades.  Another $14 million in

         23  Bond Act money has been committed to projects in the

         24  New York Harbor and the surrounding water bodies,

         25  including a $10 million grant that was used as part
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          2  of the construction of the Flushing CSO tank, a

          3  major project we have described elsewhere in our

          4  capital program and when finished will go a long way

          5  towards eliminating raw sewage discharges into that

          6  water body during wet weather events.

          7                 Brownfields Environmental

          8  Restoration.  Of the $200 million originally made

          9  available in the Bond Act fund, the majority of that

         10  money remains undistributed because of the program's

         11  burdensome administrative requirements and

         12  unfavorable economic situations that it caused.  The

         13  new State Brownfields law which became effective

         14  this week should eliminate some of those barriers.

         15  The new Brownfields law also creates a 90% cost

         16  reimbursement formula through the Bond Act, which

         17  will be applied to the City's projects.

         18                 The New York City Office of

         19  Environmental Coordination is providing technical

         20  assistance for three investigation projects now

         21  underway in the City.  DEP is managing the work at

         22  two of those three sites.  At Barretto Point in the

         23  Bronx we're working with the Parks Department and

         24  DEC, and recently completed both the investigation

         25  and the remediation plan.  When remediation efforts
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          2  are finished, the Barretto Point will provide

          3  significant new open space along side a

          4  rehabilitated waste water treatment plant.

          5  Investigation of the Barretto site costs $355,000.

          6  Initial cost projections for the remediation are

          7  approximately $6.2 for that entire site, both our

          8  waste water footprint area and the future park area.

          9                 DEP is also investigating the Maspeth

         10  Railroad site using Bond Act funds.  Once it is

         11  remediated, the Maspeth site will be used for a DEP

         12  warehouse and archive facilities.  Investigation

         13  costs for that site are $412,000, and will be funded

         14  largely with Bond Act money.  A third project, the

         15  investigation of Bush Terminal landfill piers 1

         16  through 4, located on the Brooklyn waterfront in

         17  Sunset Park, is being overseen by the New York City

         18  Economic Development Corporation.

         19                 Solid Waste and Air Quality.  DEP did

         20  not qualify for most of the monies that were set

         21  aside and distributed under the provisions of this

         22  Bond Act.  These funds are allocated to a limited

         23  number of very specific projects, which did not

         24  include activities relevant to DEP.  In summary, DEP

         25  benefitted from a number of provisions in the 1996
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          2  Clean Water/Clean Air Bond Act. However, Bond Act

          3  funds were carefully segregated by region into

          4  specific projects which limited the amount of money

          5  for which we were eligible.  Nevertheless, DEP has

          6  financed significant portions of a major water

          7  supply and clean water infrastructure using Bond Act

          8  monies.

          9                 Furthermore, we continue to pursue

         10  important Brownfields projects which improve the

         11  quality of life in New York and which will be

         12  financed primarily by Bond Act money.  Thank you for

         13  the opportunity to testify.  I will be happy to

         14  answer any and all questions that I'm able to today.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you, Mr.

         16  Singleton. Sure, I have some questions prepared.  I

         17  also made some notes on your statement here that I'd

         18  like to probe just a little bit.  When we look at

         19  the amount of funding that the City got, and I know

         20  that you're not speaking for the entire City, you're

         21  speaking for DEP. It was our hope to have more

         22  representatives here to give us a more complete

         23  picture of the pitfalls and problems that they

         24  encountered when they tried to get Bond Act monies.

         25  But the City did better in some areas than others
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          2  with regard to clean air projects allocated by the

          3  Bond Act monies, the City actually got 75% of the

          4  total allocation for clean air projects and 43% of

          5  the allocation for solid waste capital projects, but

          6  when it comes to water quality projects, New York

          7  City only received six percent of the total Bond Act

          8  monies that have been committed.

          9                 As we all know, the full allocations

         10  haven't been made yet.  When we're talking about

         11  commitments of money, and most of it is already

         12  committed, New York City came in at six percent for

         13  water quality projects.  Although your statement

         14  makes reference to Brownfields projects, and you

         15  indicated that most of the money has not been

         16  dispersed yet, but the monies have already been

         17  committed for Brownfields projects, and New York

         18  City came in with six percent in Brownfields also.

         19  These are two very critical DEP areas.  The single

         20  question is, why did we come up with only six

         21  percent of the money out of the total for water

         22  quality, and only six percent for Brownfields as

         23  well?  Why is that?  And again, this is separate and

         24  apart from the environmental loan program, which is

         25  something that we ultimately have to pay back.  Of
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          2  course it's nice to get a break on the interest

          3  rate, but the Bond Act is supposed to be about

          4  financing projects, giving the money, things that

          5  don't have to be paid back.  They've already been

          6  paid for by the citizens through the bonding

          7  process.  So six percent and six percent for water

          8  quality and Brownfields, we're kind of wondering why

          9  and hoping you can shed some light on that for us.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  I

         11  will certainly try to.  Part of the issue on the

         12  clean water side at least is that the allocations

         13  were made to specific regions and specific areas

         14  prior to the application process opening up.  Very

         15  simplistically, I can't apply for monies that are

         16  allocated to Lake Champagne or to the Finger Lakes

         17  or to any other region that New York City does not

         18  geographically have within its boundaries.  Based on

         19  the money that was allocated to both the Sound and

         20  to New York Harbor, I think if you recast those same

         21  numbers that you mentioned, we did much, much

         22  better.  We got about $80 million against the

         23  component that was allocated to the Sound and the

         24  Harbor, and that would put us more in the range of

         25  that 40% of the allocation that was to our region.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  How about for

          3  the, and we'll get to Brownfields in a minute, that

          4  was the other part of my question, but how about the

          5  City's watershed initiatives?  I think that the

          6  City's upstate water quality, watershed initiative,

          7  the biggest kind in the country where New York City

          8  is going out there and getting filtration avoidance

          9  determination in a watershed that's going to be -- I

         10  don't think anything like this has ever been done

         11  anywhere in the country.  Certainly the biggest

         12  water quality initiative on the plate for the entire

         13  State is what we're doing up in the East of Hudson,

         14  West of Hudson watersheds, is it the case that New

         15  York City drinking water projects don't qualify as

         16  water quality projects under the Clean Water/Clean

         17  Air Bond Act?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  It

         19  was my understanding that the enabling legislation

         20  when this was first put together sort of set that

         21  aside, that money was not supposed to be allocated

         22  for New York City investments in the watershed, and

         23  that was part of the enabling legislation going

         24  forward.  We do qualify for a certain amount of, I'm

         25  going back to the loan program, but that's the
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          2  component outside of the watershed that we've been

          3  able to access.  The original enabling legislation

          4  sort of segregated the watershed investments as

          5  something that was not supposed to be supported by

          6  the bond proceeds.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  At all?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

          9  That's my understanding of it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Does someone

         11  have a fuller understanding who is present here

         12  today who can speak to that?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  I

         14  can read this into the record, Councilman.  It's the

         15  component of the enabling legislation, and I'll read

         16  that into the record if you so desire.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And it speaks

         18  directly to the eligibility of New York City

         19  watershed projects and Bond Act funding?  Is this

         20  what this passage speaks to?  Fine, then let's hear

         21  it.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  I

         23  believe it's Section 56- 0109, Sale of Bonds,

         24  Certain Limitations. Notwithstanding any other

         25  section of the law, no money received by the State
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          2  from the sale of the bonds pursuant to the Clean

          3  Water/Clean Air Bond Act of 1996 shall be used to

          4  fund any project committed to by the State in

          5  agreement with New York City regarding the New York

          6  City watershed.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Well, that was

          8  a sweet little provision to make us weigh in there,

          9  don't you think?  What action was taken on behalf of

         10  the City when the Bond Act was put forward when it

         11  was stipulated that the biggest water quality

         12  project in the entire State was going to be held

         13  outside of what the Bond Act was going to be able to

         14  be used for?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         16  Councilman, I can't speak for the City's position in

         17  1996 when the enabling legislation was first put

         18  forward.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, let's go

         20  to Brownfields for a second.  It seems as though,

         21  not withstanding your statement which indicates that

         22  a lot of the Brownfields money has not actually been

         23  given out yet.  Certainly most if not all of the

         24  Brownfields money in the Bond Act has already been

         25  committed and the passage of the Brownfields bill of
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          2  the State, although that will help to get some of

          3  the Bond Act money to flow, it doesn't appear as

          4  though the money is going to be flowing in

          5  substantial portion to Brownfields efforts in New

          6  York City in that my staff indicated that only six

          7  percent of the Brownfields money is going to be

          8  coming to New York City.

          9                 I think we have a lot of Brownfields

         10  sites here in New York City relative to the rest of

         11  the State.  They get 94% and we get 6%.  We've got

         12  all the Brownfields.  Again, we're getting like the

         13  fuzzy end of the lollipop on this.  We're living

         14  under the same Brownfields paradigm that everyone

         15  else is in the rest of the State.  New York State

         16  did not have a Brownfields law, and so people were

         17  just kind of making it up as they go along, but it

         18  seems that the Brownfields money in the Bond Act did

         19  get committed to various entities, 94% of which I

         20  guess is outside New York City. How did we get left

         21  out in such an egregious manner?  What was it about

         22  the process or us not being eligible or some other

         23  provision that led us to get cheated such an

         24  egregious way on Brownfields?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:
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          2  Councilman, it's our understanding that $170 million

          3  of that $200 million allocation is still

          4  uncommitted, and that's our understanding.  When we

          5  finish our remediation plans at those three sites

          6  that I mentioned, we expect further dialogue with

          7  the State on funding for those sites.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Just so I

          9  understand, it's your contention that there's still

         10  a large reservoir of uncommitted, not just

         11  unallocated but actually uncommitted Brownfields

         12  dollars that's still available in the Bond Act?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         14  That's my understanding.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  Do you

         16  know how much money is out there?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         18  One hundred and seventy million.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  One hundred and

         20  seventy million is still out there in uncommitted

         21  Brownfields money?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         23  That is my understanding as of today.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Does DEP has a

         25  plan or some effort to get the City better
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          2  represented?  What are we doing to make sure we get

          3  our fair share of those dollars?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

          5  This is a particular program that just not DEP is

          6  involved in.  EDC will be involved in, other City

          7  agencies.  A large portion of our work with working

          8  with these other groups to do these remediation

          9  plans.  I think I mentioned that the Mayor's Office

         10  of Environmental Coordination is involved in that

         11  work, and that we have two specific sites that we're

         12  working on now to get remediation plans in place and

         13  to get that finalized.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Who would be

         15  the entity within City government to --- when you

         16  look at DEC, they have a statewide focus.  So to the

         17  extent that they care or don't care about New York

         18  City, I can't really speak to.  But the Mayor's

         19  Office of Environmental Coordination, DEP, and other

         20  City entities are the ones that are certainly going

         21  to be the most responsive, in my view, to the needs

         22  of the citizens of New York City.  So what person or

         23  entity within New York City government has primary

         24  responsibility for making sure that New York City

         25  gets its fair share of these as yet uncommitted
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          2  Brownfields Bond Act funds?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

          4  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I'd like to introduce Lee

          5  Elan [phonetic], she's from the Mayor's Office of

          6  Environmental Coordination.  She could speak to this

          7  issue a little bit more thoroughly than I can.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We need you to

          9  repeat your name and also we'll have Donna swear you

         10  in as well.

         11                 MS. ELAN: My name is Lee Elan.  I'm a

         12  Senior Environmental Planner with the New York City

         13  Office of Environmental Coordination.

         14                 MS. DE COSTANZO:  Please raise your

         15  right hand.  In the testimony that you are about to

         16  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         17  whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

         18                 MS. ELAN:  I do.

         19                 MS. DE COSTANZO:  Thank you.

         20                 MS. ELAN:  The Office of

         21  Environmental Coordination has coordinated the

         22  City's participation in the Brownfields Program of

         23  the Bond Act.  When the Bond Act first came out we

         24  asked for applications from various City agencies

         25  which we have managed and we actually ended up
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          2  withdrawing a number of applications that had been

          3  accepted just because of the onerous administrative

          4  requirements of the Bond Act.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Withdrawing

          6  applications?  You mean applications were made to

          7  the people who distribute Bond Act money, and the

          8  City pulled back those applications because of

          9  paperwork requirements and all that?

         10                 MS. ELAN:  It takes an awful long

         11  time, and sometimes the City just wants to move a

         12  lot more quickly than the State can.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yeah, but the

         14  rest of the State ended up getting 94% of the money

         15  or whatever and we didn't get a lot.

         16                 MS. ELAN:  For the Bond Act program,

         17  that's not true.  One hundred and seventy million

         18  dollars has still been unallocated.  Cities across

         19  the State have found it difficult to use the

         20  Brownfields Bond Act money.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  What does the

         22  City's Brownfields efforts with respect to securing

         23  Bond Act money, what does the future hold in store

         24  for us?  What kinds of applications are being made?

         25  What kind of aggressive measures are being taken on
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          2  the part of the City to make sure that the citizens

          3  of the City get their fair share of Bond Act

          4  funding?

          5                 MS. ELAN:  For two of the projects

          6  that have been receiving investigation funds, that's

          7  wrapping up, and we are planning to apply for

          8  remediation funds for those projects.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  There's like

         10  five thousand or six thousand potential sites in the

         11  City.  The fact that we're talking about one, two,

         12  three, four sites is not particularly impressive.

         13  So keep going.

         14                 MS. ELAN:  It's very restrictive,

         15  what sites are eligible.  They have to be

         16  municipally owned.  Up until now, the Bond Act has

         17  required that any profit that would be gotten from

         18  the sale or lease or any profit from the eventual

         19  reuse on the site would have to be split with the

         20  State, so it wasn't in our economic interest to

         21  share the money with the State.  We only for the

         22  most part have used the Bond Act on sites where it

         23  was going to be used for a park or for

         24  infrastructure, where there wasn't going to be money

         25  that we would have to give back to the State.  The
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          2  new Brownfields law that the Governor has signed

          3  eliminates that profit sharing requirement, and also

          4  ramps up the reimbursement from 75% to 90%, so now

          5  it's a much more attractive program and we have put

          6  out the call to City agencies to please identify,

          7  again they have to be municipally owned sites, that

          8  they want to investigate or remediate.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Who is

         10  coordinating that effort and how can this Committee

         11  track what's going on with that, and how can we have

         12  an ongoing dialogue to make sure that your agencies

         13  are doing what you're asking them to do, which is to

         14  put forward projects to you that you can move?  How

         15  do I get a sense of what's out there?  Because we

         16  want to keep our eye on this.  We want the money.

         17  We want to do Brownfields here in New York City. We

         18  want the economic development that comes from it.

         19  All of the impediments seemingly have been removed

         20  now with the passage of the Brownfields bill.

         21                 MS. ELAN:  I wouldn't say all of the

         22  impediments.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'm just saying

         24  that we're going in the right direction, like the

         25  reimbursement's better.  Are the agencies that
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          2  you're reaching out to, are they ably equipped with

          3  people who are in a position to put forward or

          4  recommend projects to you?  Do we have that kind of

          5  structure in place?

          6                 MS. ELAN:  Now that we have the bill

          7  passed, we do have a few sites we've identified

          8  already and we are going to be preparing

          9  applications for them.  Certainly if you or any of

         10  the Council Members are aware of municipally owned

         11  sites that you think would be good candidates, we'd

         12  love to hear about them.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  It would be my

         14  hope that the City government in general or the

         15  agencies who are empowered to do this already have

         16  in place the knowledge and the will and the people

         17  to make sure that we get this money and make

         18  Brownfields a reality.  Is there like an overall

         19  Brownfields coordinator for the City, or is it just

         20  your office, or how does that work?

         21                 MS. ELAN:  Our office, working with

         22  Commissioner Ward, is developing Brownfields

         23  strategy for the City.  At this point, we've only

         24  had the new Brownfields law signed since yesterday,

         25  so in preparation for this we put out a few weeks
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          2  back a call to City agencies, please look at the

          3  sites in your portfolio to identify sites that would

          4  be eligible, either that need to be investigated or

          5  need to be remediated.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We would like

          7  to have that. Could you make available to the

          8  Committee what it is that you sent out to the

          9  agencies?  If you could send it to Donna De Costanzo

         10  at the Council Committee, we'd like to see what

         11  you're doing, keep an eye on what you're doing,

         12  follow up, would that be okay?

         13                 MS. ELAN:  I don't see why not, sure.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Terrific.

         15  Thank you for that commitment.  Also, I'd like to

         16  recognize Council Member Addabbo for questions.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you,

         18  Chair Gennaro.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'm sorry, if I

         20  could, I'd also like to recognize the presence of

         21  Council Member Bill DeBlasio, I didn't see him.

         22  He's hard to miss, but somehow I didn't see him.

         23  Sorry for the interruption, Council Member Addabbo.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  It's okay.

         25  I'd like to thank DEP for being here today and for
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          2  giving their testimony. Thank you very much for the

          3  information.  First a general question, then I guess

          4  we'll get to the specifics.  Am I correct in

          5  thinking that DEP is satisfied with the money it has

          6  received or the way that the money is allocated

          7  through the Clean Water/Clean Air Act? Are you

          8  satisfied that it's fair and equitable?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  I

         10  think we did very well in the applications that we

         11  put forward.  The size of our capital program over

         12  the next ten years is equal to a Bond Act almost

         13  every year.  We would welcome any additional source

         14  of funding, be it federal or state, to help fund

         15  that program.  That said, I think the allocation as

         16  it was made, we were very successful in accessing

         17  that, and I think going forward as the sole entity

         18  in the City that can take advantage of the revolving

         19  loan program, I think we'll do very well with that

         20  program over time.

         21                 On what we call the dirty water side

         22  of things, there's also a revolving loan program

         23  which has a fifty percent subsidy, the City

         24  traditionally gets sixty percent of that loan

         25  capacity, and we have a very good track record of
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          2  maximizing at that amount.  So I think going

          3  forward, if the drinking water program ramps up like

          4  the clean water program has, it will be a very

          5  potentially good source of supplementing our

          6  resources on the capital side.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Mr. Singleton,

          8  to say that obviously we have received money that

          9  has been allocated to DEP and that it helped, and it

         10  has helped, we're obviously aware of that, and you

         11  being here telling us how it has helped is helpful

         12  as well. But again, let me go back to that initial

         13  question.  Do you think it's been done equitably and

         14  fairly, considering what DEP has and you may not

         15  know the allocation throughout the State, but the

         16  numbers are here.  In your opinion, do you think

         17  it's been fair? Do you think we've gotten our fair

         18  and equitable share to DEP or do you think given our

         19  population and given our environmental issues we

         20  should have gotten more in the past?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  I

         22  really don't have a personal opinion on that, but I

         23  would think that given the size of our program any

         24  program that has a certain population sensitivity

         25  would be helpful to the City's position.  If there
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          2  are future Bond Acts, obviously a population

          3  sensitivity in the allocation as the initial thrust

          4  of that program has some relevance.  If that would

          5  have changed the outcome of the dollars we got under

          6  this program, I really don't have an answer for you

          7  about that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  In the past,

          9  has DEP applied for a specific project for a grant

         10  and been denied?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         12  The way our grants were done, none of them were

         13  formally denied.  We made a total application of 129

         14  grants covering about $5.2 billion in work.  There

         15  were various rounds of awards, competitive rounds.

         16  Some of those applications had to be resubmitted.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  If I may, of

         18  the 129 applications, how many were granted?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  We

         20  got a total of twelve grants, totaling just under

         21  $80 million.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Out of 129

         23  grants, you received twelve?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         25  That's correct. That 129 grants and the $5 billion
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          2  worth of work that we submitted behind it was

          3  obviously much larger than the income stream we were

          4  going after.  So we were trying to submit as many

          5  projects as we could to maximize the amount of

          6  dollars that we got back.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  One hundred

          8  twenty nine grants requesting roughly how much?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  It

         10  was requesting probably twenty percent of that

         11  number, but my point is that it's a competitive

         12  process, so the grants are ranked.  We're competing

         13  against Nassau and Suffolk counties for items in the

         14  Sound, so there's a competitive nature to this.  So

         15  we submitted as many quality grants as we could

         16  against the income streams that were available to

         17  us.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And I am sure,

         19  of the 117 grants that were denied, I'm sure these

         20  were good projects that would have affected our

         21  residents on a daily basis, correct?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  I

         23  would say that 98% of those projects are going

         24  forward without the State funding. Most of our

         25  program is a mandated program.  The investments we
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          2  have to make at the waste water treatment plants,

          3  denitrification, CSOs, these are mandated programs.

          4  They're going to go forward.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And the funding

          6  for those mandated programs, where does that funding

          7  come from?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

          9  That comes from the rate payers of the City of New

         10  York.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  We have a

         12  situation here where the State could have helped us

         13  out once again in granting at least more than the 12

         14  of the 129 grants, when instead we have to use

         15  residents' money to go forward with those other

         16  mandated programs, correct?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  As

         18  I mentioned before in my testimony, we got about 40%

         19  of the money that was available to us under those

         20  set asides.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Of the 117 or

         22  so grants that were denied, were you given reasons

         23  why they were denied, or just flat out denials with

         24  no reason given?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  As
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          2  I mentioned earlier, our grants were not formally

          3  denied.  At times they were returned and we were

          4  asked to resubmit them again.  But that was the

          5  extent of the dialogue on that.  All of our grants

          6  up until the most recent ones we received had been

          7  open and under review.  They were never formally

          8  denied in a sense.  They were always in competition

          9  with other items in that population of monies.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  In your

         11  statement regarding the Brownfields, you had

         12  mentioned that $200 million was originally made

         13  available, but now that's held up, undistributed

         14  because of programs burdensome in administrative

         15  requirements and unfavorable economics.  That $200

         16  million, is it held in abeyance, is it still there,

         17  or if you don't use it you lose it?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         19  It's my understanding that the $170 million has not

         20  been utilized yet.  The exact timing of that I can

         21  not speak to.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'm just

         23  concerned, of the $170 million, it does stay there,

         24  not that we lose it for that program or project.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  I
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          2  don't know how the enabling legislation read on any

          3  excess money that was left in the Bond Act, but it's

          4  my understanding as of right now that $170 million

          5  is still available.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Is it possible

          7  you can get back to this Committee regarding the

          8  future of that $170 million? Again, I would hate for

          9  it to be counted as one of the grants that you

         10  actually received and yet we're going to lose the

         11  money because of the time factor.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  We

         13  can certainly get back to you on it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Once again, I

         15  appreciate your time and testimony.  Are you aware

         16  of other City agencies, and again this might fall

         17  within the purview of the DEP, other city agencies

         18  that you have worked in conjunction that have also

         19  applied and just have not been granted any of the

         20  funding?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  My

         22  only awareness of other components of the program,

         23  since my daughter attends public school, was

         24  investments that were made in the schools I believe

         25  on certain coal furnaces and things of that nature.
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          2  I'm not aware of the exact success of all the other

          3  agencies.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  I'm sure Mr.

          5  Singleton, you know my position.  I look at the

          6  numbers and still think we are being shortchanged.

          7  It's great that DEP has done wonders with the money

          8  that it's gotten, but 129 grants that at least have

          9  been applied for or requested and out of that only

         10  twelve received, DEP may think that's a successful

         11  number, but I still think we could have done a lot

         12  more because we don't get enough of that State

         13  funding, our residents suffer a bit in saying that

         14  we have to pay for these programs that have to go

         15  forward.  But again, I appreciate your time and I

         16  appreciate your working with this Committee.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         18  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         20  Council Member Addabbo.  Let me just follow up on

         21  your earlier statement.  Lee, is that right?  Lee is

         22  your name?  Okay.  You indicated that to the best of

         23  your knowledge, there's still $170 million in

         24  uncommitted Brownfields Act monies still sort of on

         25  the table, uncommitted? Not just undisbursed,
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          2  uncommitted?

          3                 MS. ELAN:  Correct.  That's across

          4  the State.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Across the

          6  State, good.  With regard to eligibility for that

          7  money, is it in fact only sites that are owned by

          8  some kind of municipalities that are eligible for

          9  that money?  That is to say, are private sites

         10  eligible or could they be made eligible for this?

         11                 MS. ELAN:  I'm not a lawyer and I'd

         12  have to look at the legislation, but my

         13  understanding is it's got to be a municipally owned

         14  sites and the City can not have been the party that

         15  contaminated them.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, so City

         17  owned, and the City can not be the entity that did

         18  the pollution?

         19                 MS. ELAN:  It can't be the

         20  responsible party, right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I see.  Do you

         22  have knowledge of what the total inventory of City

         23  owned Brownfields sites are? Was this the subject of

         24  your most recent outreach?

         25                 MS. ELAN:  It's hard to get a handle
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          2  on this.  It's a really good question, we get asked

          3  that a lot.  It's just the way Brownfields are

          4  defined by both the City and the State refers to

          5  properties that are being prevented from being

          6  redeveloped because of contamination or suspected

          7  contamination.  It's hard to come up with a list of

          8  suspected contamination until you really go out and

          9  do an investigation.  Things kind of come to the

         10  forefront, get on the front burner, when there's a

         11  specific proposal to do something on a particular

         12  site.  So there's not a City list of Brownfields.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  There should

         14  be.  It should be somebody's job.  So right now no

         15  one in the City has that job?

         16                 MS. ELAN:  Our office is working on

         17  that.  It's a difficult issue to get a handle on.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  A lot of things

         19  are difficult.

         20                 MS. ELAN:  For instance with private

         21  sites, you wouldn't want to stigmatize private sites

         22  by putting somebody's property on a list of

         23  potentially contaminated sites.  Then they go try to

         24  sell it and you don't really have any information to

         25  say why it's on a list of Brownfields.  So some
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          2  entities have approached...

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'm talking

          4  about City owned sites that could be part of this

          5  Brownfields program.

          6                 MS. ELAN:  Yeah, we could look at

          7  really any vacant --- it's just how to prioritize

          8  them.  It's usually...

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I want to get

         10  the money.  The way we get the money, if they're for

         11  City owned sites, right, and the City can't be the

         12  primary polluter or the polluter or whatever, so

         13  that limits the universe to some extent, but taking

         14  even taking into account those criteria, you are

         15  left with some universe of potential sites for which

         16  there could be some sort of Brownfields effort that

         17  could be financed by the Bond Act.  You're saying

         18  that up until now, you've only been using sites for

         19  which someone in City government has conceived of

         20  something for the site.

         21                 MS. ELAN:  That's actually required

         22  on the application.  They want to know the proposed

         23  use for the site.  The other important thing to know

         24  about the program, it's a reimbursement program, so

         25  given the City's financial situation, we'd have to

                                                            43

          1

          2  come up with all of the money to do the

          3  investigation and remediation, and then request a

          4  reimbursement.  So it's a budgetary issue as well.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, and

          6  there's no creative financing mechanisms that can be

          7  employed that would ultimately pay off in the long

          8  run?

          9                 MS. ELAN:  I think that's definitely

         10  worth looking at.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Is that more

         12  like a budget question for a guy like Joe?  Are we

         13  letting the City's current financial situation stand

         14  in the way of us getting like free money, which is

         15  not really free because the people of the City have

         16  already like paid into this Bond Act?  I think it

         17  behooves us to figure out a way to get some of this

         18  money.  Otherwise it's going to go to other areas in

         19  the State.

         20                 We're left with a situation where our

         21  citizens who are paying like the lion's share of

         22  this Bond Act, because we're the ones who are going

         23  to be paid back because we're the ones with more

         24  wealth in New York City than in other parts of the

         25  State, so we're going to be paying back more than
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          2  half of this $1.7 billion in Bond Act monies, but

          3  we're willing to let the money go elsewhere because

          4  we've got this little situation going on.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  We

          6  are happy to share with you the list of sites that

          7  we do have.  We can forward that to your office.

          8  You're absolutely right.  If there is revenue

          9  anticipation behind it, the City would make the

         10  investment. Obviously, when you get a award letter

         11  on a grant you can anticipate that you are going to

         12  get reimbursed from the State for that investment,

         13  and the City does front that money prior to making

         14  that investment, but eventually, as the paperwork

         15  flows, you get reimbursed from the State.  So it's

         16  not a major obstacle to going after these monies.

         17  But as my colleague mentioned...

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You've got to

         19  speak louder. I'm having a little difficulty.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         21   ...there has to be a proposed use as part of the

         22  process.  We will provide you with any of the

         23  current lists that we now have available.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yeah, I'd

         25  really like to know. I think it's incumbent for
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          2  people to propose uses for these properties so that

          3   --- what's the alternative of not doing it? City

          4  owned site, leaching contamination, it's off the tax

          5  rolls, not doing anything for anybody, no jobs being

          6  provided by that site, it's just a burden, an

          7  eyesore, a source of contamination. And here we have

          8  the State that's put together this program and we

          9  should be doing all we can to endeavor to get this

         10  money, most of which we're paying for anyway.  I'd

         11  rather it be here than in Binghamton or Platzburg.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:  We

         13  absolutely agree that remediating the Brownfields

         14  that we have identified is a goal that we all should

         15  be pursuing.  We're happy to reach out to you and we

         16  expect that any sites that you're aware of that are

         17  municipally owned, that there is a known problem

         18  with, is something that we would jointly look at.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  So you sent

         20  this letter, that is Lee, your office sent out to

         21  various agencies that you wanted an inventory of

         22  City owned Brownfields sites that meet these

         23  criteria, and you're asking these agencies only for

         24  sites for which they have some potential end use, or

         25  you just want like an inventory of everything that's
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          2  out there?  What did you ask for?

          3                 MS. ELAN:  We didn't ask for an

          4  inventory.  We said in anticipation of the

          5  Brownfields bill being signed into law, the

          6  Brownfields program of the Bond Act is going to be

          7  improved, and therefore do any of these agencies

          8  have any sites that they would be interested in

          9  nominating, and we're gotten responses from a couple

         10  of agencies and certainly we'd be glad to keep you

         11  in the loop, work with you on that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We would like

         13  to get that information.  Maybe this could even be

         14  the subject of another hearing.  Certainly, on

         15  behalf of the Committee you can count me and I think

         16  the other members here as profoundly interested in

         17  what's going on with that Brownfields program.  So

         18  we would look forward to getting it to Donna De

         19  Constanzo, Counsel for the Committee, make sure you

         20  have your appropriate contact information so you can

         21  get it to us.  We're very interested.  Let me just

         22  see what my next question is going to be.

         23                 Okay another question that doesn't

         24  necessarily relate to Brownfields.  Are matching

         25  funds required for the funding of projects under the

                                                            47

          1

          2  Bond Act?  Subquestion, how is this requirement, if

          3  any, affecting New York City's application for Bond

          4  Act funds, and how is this requirement impacting New

          5  York City's award of Bond Act funding commitments?

          6  So, matching funds, what's the story on that?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

          8  There is a match required.  At least as far as DEP

          9  is concerned, it has not been a roadblock to us

         10  making applications.  As I've mentioned before, most

         11  of the work that was targeted to our region, Long

         12  Island Sound and the New York Harbor, we have a lot

         13  of mandated construction going on at those

         14  facilities.  So that money was an offset to City

         15  dollars that would have been spent.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, thank

         17  you.  I'd like to recognize Council Member DeBlasio

         18  who wants to make a special recognition.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DE BLASIO:  Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chairman. I don't want to hold up the witness

         21  and I do appreciate the testimony we've heard today.

         22  Unfortunately I have to leave in a moment.  I want

         23  to thank you for this moment.  I want to recognize

         24  an upcoming witness who up until just a short time

         25  ago was a member of my staff and a very valued
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          2  member of my staff who did a great job on

          3  environmental issues and many other issues, Rachel

          4  Amar [phonetic] Who has now become the Government

          5  Affairs Director of the Prospect Park Alliance.  And

          6  I want to welcome her to the Environmental

          7  Protection Committee in her new role.  I just want

          8  to caution you, Rachel, that Chair Gennaro is a very

          9  persistent and careful questioner so you should

         10  prepare yourself.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         12  Council Member DeBlasio.  Thank you very much for

         13  coming.  We appreciate your testimony.  Thanks very

         14  much.  We look forward to getting that information

         15  through Donna, so make sure that you're making the

         16  connection there.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         18  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'd like to

         20  call our next panel of witnesses.  The next panel

         21  will be Molly Price, Rachel Amar, and Paul Sawyer.

         22  Molly Price is from New Yorkers for Parks, Paul

         23  Sawyer from Friends of Van Cortlandt Park, and

         24  Rachel Amar from the Prospect Park Alliance.

         25                 MS. PRICE:  Good afternoon.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Hi, thanks for

          3  coming.  We appreciate your being here.  It looks as

          4  though Mr. Sawyer is not here, but we're grateful

          5  that you could be with us here today. Donna De

          6  Costanzo, the counsel to the Committee, will

          7  administer the oath, after which you can both state

          8  your names for the record and your organizations and

          9  proceed with your testimonies.  After you both make

         10  your statements then we'll have comments and

         11  questions.  Thanks a lot.

         12                 MS. DE COSTANZO:  Please raise your

         13  right hand.  In the testimony that you are able to

         14  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         15  whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

         16                 MS. PRICE:  I do.

         17                 MS. AMAR:  I do.

         18                 MS. DE COSTANZO:  Thank you.

         19                 MS. PRICE:  My name is Molly Price.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'm going to

         21  give the same advice as I did to the last witness.

         22  You've got to pull the microphone right in front of

         23  you and speak right into it, just like I'm doing,

         24  see everybody can hear me.

         25                 MS. PRICE:  How's this?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  That's good.

          3                 MS. PRICE:  Good?  Okay.  My name is

          4  Molly Price and I represent New Yorkers for Parks, a

          5  citywide coalition of over one thousand civic,

          6  greening, recreation and economic development groups

          7  committed to ensuring that the public receives safe,

          8  well managed, and well programmed parks in every

          9  neighborhood.

         10                 I'm here to testify in support of

         11  Resolution 433. New Yorkers for Parks commends the

         12  Committee for holding this hearing and recognizes

         13  that it's an important first step towards enhancing

         14  funding for New York City's environment.  As you've

         15  heard from the previous speakers, over the last ten

         16  years the City has successfully secured Clean

         17  Water/Clean Air Act funds including funds for the

         18  Department of Parks and Recreation, Natural Area

         19  Acquisition and Restoration.

         20                 These funds have greatly enhanced the

         21  quality of our parks and open spaces.  However, we

         22  encourage the City to leverage more funding for New

         23  York City based projects, including those in

         24  municipal parks.  In particular, we urge the passage

         25  of Resolution 433 calling on Governor Pataki to set
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          2  objective standards for the award of grants from

          3  these funds.

          4                 The Clean Water/Clean Air Bond Act is

          5  one of two major State level funding streams that

          6  the City can use for environmental quality projects,

          7  along with the Environmental Protection Fund.

          8  Between 1996 and 2000, New York City received 23% of

          9  all CW/CA Bond Act and EPF combined funds.  However,

         10  New York City has 40% of the State's population and

         11  contributes the largest share of the revenues that

         12  fund both programs, as was noted earlier.

         13                 As noted in Resolution 433, each of

         14  New York City's five boroughs received commitments

         15  that were significantly below the average awards per

         16  capita for the State's 62 counties, and we've

         17  attached a chart to the testimony.  The average

         18  statewide allotment per person for these two funds

         19  is $152.  New York City falls far below this, with

         20  an average of $32 per person.

         21                 The Clean Water/Clean Air Bond Act is

         22  an important resource for enhancing not just the

         23  quality of New York City's neighborhood parks, but

         24  also the quality of the environment more broadly.

         25  Despite the need for this funding, New York City has
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          2  not received its fair share.  New Yorkers for Parks

          3  encourages the Council to pass Resolution 433.

          4  Additionally, we advocate an expansion of the CW/CA

          5  Bond Act to contain increased allocations for

          6  municipal parks, including distributions toward the

          7  improvement of City as well as State parks.

          8                 In New Yorkers for Parks report card

          9  on parks from last year, 38% of neighborhood parks

         10  surveyed received a grade of D or F.  With a DPR

         11  budget in constant strain, new and varied revenue

         12  streams are crucial to the City's progress in

         13  addressing the crisis in parks and quality of life

         14  in New York City.  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         16  Thank you very much for your testimony.  We'll have

         17  questions in a moment.  I just want to hear the

         18  other statement.

         19                 MS. AMAR:  My name is Rachel Amar and

         20  I'm the Government Affairs Manager for the Prospect

         21  Park Alliance.  For anyone who doesn't know,

         22  Prospect Park is located in Brooklyn.  I'm just

         23  going to give a brief testimony regarding our

         24  funding.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.  I'm just
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          2  wondering, is that a written, prepared statement

          3  that was distributed?  Do you have a written

          4  statement?

          5                 MS. AMAR:  Yes.  Do you need one?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You can hand

          7  those to the sergeants who will distribute them to

          8  the members.

          9                 MS. AMAR:  I did.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh, okay.  I

         11  got one now.  I'm good.

         12                 MS. AMAR:  Great.  The Prospect Park

         13  Alliance has applied to the New York City Clean

         14  Water/Clean Air Bond Act of 1996 several times

         15  before it was awarded.  The Alliance then won three

         16  consecutive Bond Act awards through the New York

         17  State Office of Parks, Recreation, and Historic

         18  Preservation.  The Alliance requested and was

         19  granted the maximum of $500,000 for the restoration

         20  of the park's boat house and nature trails nearby in

         21  Fiscal Year 2000.  The Alliance requested the

         22  $500,000 maximum for the Bin and Water Restoration,

         23  and received $300,000 in Fiscal Year 2001.  The

         24  Alliance again requested $500,000, this time for the

         25  Peninsula Trails restoration and was awarded
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          2  $100,000 in 2002.  The Alliance was awarded $750,000

          3  in Bond Act funding through the Department of

          4  Environmental Conservation in Fiscal Year 2001.

          5                 Last year, the Alliance's Bond Act

          6  application was denied and this year the Alliance

          7  was informed that it could not apply for Bond Act

          8  funds.  This year, the Alliance submitted two

          9  separate $350,000 application requests for lake

         10  restoration, one through the Department of

         11  Environmental Conservation, and one through the New

         12  York State Office of Parks, Recreation, and Historic

         13  Preservation.  Both applications are through the

         14  Environmental Protection Fund since the Alliance was

         15  advised that the Bond Act funding was no longer

         16  available.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         18                 MS. AMAR:  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I have some

         20  questions or observations.  Molly, with regard to

         21  Reso 433 calling upon the Governor to set standards

         22  for the award of grants from these funds, do you

         23  have a standard that you would like to propose?

         24  People that are in the parks community, so to speak,

         25  is there a sense of the types of standards that you
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          2  would like to see implemented, because we don't

          3  really set out in the Resolution what we want those

          4  standards to be, but people like yourself who

          5  advocate in such an effective way for parks, are

          6  there sort of off the shelf standards that exist

          7  that should be used in this case?  What are your

          8  thoughts on what standards should be used?

          9                 MS. PRICE:  I think our first concern

         10  would really just be to make sure that the City gets

         11  equal amounts back from the Bond Act from what it

         12  puts in.  It's not even so much that this money goes

         13  to parks specifically, but just that the City's

         14  getting its fair share.  That could be done with a

         15  simple per capita allocation, that the most basic

         16  thing, but there are several other ways you could do

         17  it.  Secondly, I think once the City is starting to

         18  receive more of its fair share, then we would

         19  advocate for both City and State parks but with New

         20  York City getting some of those funds.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I see.  Thank

         22  you.  Rachel, you have a list of the Prospect Park

         23  Alliance and their successes in getting Bond Act

         24  awards, but then in your point five you indicated

         25  your application was denied and the Alliance was

                                                            56

          1

          2  informed that it could not apply for Bond Act funds.

          3    What happened?  What was their rationale for that?

          4                 MS. AMAR:  The rationale, from what

          5  I've been told, is that last year when an

          6  application went out it was denied and this year we

          7  were told that we could no longer apply for it, but

          8  I don't know any other rationale other than it was

          9  not available to us anymore.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Was it that

         11  your organization had received enough, so to speak,

         12  they hit their quota, or?

         13                 MS. AMAR:  They didn't specify that

         14  we had reached a quota or that they have given us

         15  maximum funding so that we couldn't apply.  That was

         16  not what was told to us.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Was it a verbal

         18  statement? How did they communicate?  Because

         19  obviously there had been a history between your

         20  organization and the State regarding Bond Act

         21  funding, and at some point the door got closed.  No

         22  one ever said we're closing the door, dot, dot, dot?

         23                 MS. AMAR:  Right.  I believe that

         24  with the application last year that there was

         25  something in writing and I could try to retrieve
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          2  that and have it for the record so that we have

          3  something in writing.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I just want to

          5  get some sense of how the Bond Act administrators

          6  sort of operate.  What kind of standards, what kind

          7  of criteria are used?  Is it completely subjective

          8  or they didn't like the color of your letterhead,

          9  what's the reason here?

         10                 MS. AMAR:  I'm not familiar with the

         11  history so I could get some information and give it

         12  to your office.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And then you

         14  indicated that you did applications through the

         15  Environmental Protection Fund, in light of the fact

         16  that Bond Act funding was no longer available. Stuff

         17  you do through the EPF you have to pay back, right?

         18                 MS. AMAR:  No, I believe it's a

         19  grant.  But those applications are still pending.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, I'm just

         21  getting a little bit of an education in the

         22  Environmental Protection Fund from my staff.  We

         23  always learn here.  Thank you.  I want to thank you

         24  for coming down and presenting your testimony.  I

         25  appreciate your advocacy on behalf of the park.  It
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          2  seems like you're doing a better job of getting

          3  money from the Bond Act than others.  Good for you.

          4  Thank you for your continued advocacy and thank you

          5  for being here today.  I very much appreciated

          6  hearing your testimony and the benefit of your

          7  views.  Thanks a lot.

          8                 MS. AMAR:  Thank you.

          9                 MS. PRICE:  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  It gives me

         11  great pleasure to call upon our next witness.  The

         12  next witness will be star quest Henry J. Stern,

         13  President of New York Civic, former long time Parks

         14  Commissioner for the City, former Council Member at

         15  large for the borough of Manhattan, and many other

         16  titles that he's held and things that he's done.

         17  I'm wearing my proud Earthman badge today that I do

         18  get a lot of comments on it.  Thank you very much

         19  for being before us today, Henry.  I look forward to

         20  getting the benefit of your views on this important

         21  subject.  Thanks so much for taking the time to be

         22  with us today.

         23                 MR. STERN:  Thank you very much,

         24  Earthman.  You know, your name happens to be the

         25  punch line of a well known line that was popular a
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          2  few years ago, and the line is We have ways of

          3  making you talk, pause, Earthman, suggesting that

          4  you've been captured by extraterrestrials.  I'm here

          5  and I'm very pleased that your Committee Counsel

          6  Ricardo Colon at your direction called to invite me

          7  to this hearing and even called to make sure I got

          8  here in time because I was at a luncheon at the

          9  Princeton Manhattan Institute.

         10                 Let me tell you how the City gets

         11  screwed four ways with regard to these bond issue

         12  monies.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Four ways?

         14                 MR. STERN:  Four ways, yes.  That's

         15  more than was said in the President Kennedy/George

         16  Smathers joke, which I will not repeat with respect

         17  for the dignity and decorum of this body.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         19                 MR. STERN:  The first thing that

         20  happened is that the City provided the majority of

         21  votes to pass this bond issues. The rubes upstate

         22  voted against it because they don't want to spend

         23  money for anything, even if it goes to their

         24  benefit.  So it was the voters of New York City who

         25  turned out in large numbers and secured the passage
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          2  of this bond issue way back when.  That's the first

          3  thing, we passed it.

          4                 The second thing is that the

          5  allocations were vastly skewed in favor of the

          6  State, and the City with 38% of the people got, I

          7  don't know, ten percent, five percent, but far less

          8  than it would deserve on a per capita basis even if

          9  you wouldn't give us credit for passing the bond

         10  issue.  That's the second.

         11                 The third thing is that a lot of the

         12  City's money didn't go to the City to distribute,

         13  but it went to a lot of private organizations,

         14  private nonprofits, so that these private nonprofits

         15  could thank Governor Pataki and be in fealty to him

         16  for having given the money and the City had nothing

         17  to do with it, even though these were projects

         18  within the City of New York, so that the City of New

         19  York had no authority over the distribution of even

         20  the measly amount that we were allocated under the

         21  bond issue.

         22                 And the fourth thing is that these

         23  allocations were also often given to satisfy the

         24  political commitments of the Governor, to

         25  organizations that had been supportive of him or
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          2  whom he wanted to woo.  So he used, or his staff,

          3  used this money as sort of prizes to promote his own

          4  political aims even though the projects were in the

          5  City of New York.  So for those four reasons, one we

          6  were the ones that provided the votes to pass the

          7  bond issue.  Two, New York City got far less than

          8  its proportionate, pro rata share based on people.

          9  Three, much of the money was given to private

         10  organizations rather than to City Parks Department,

         11  and the City Parks Department had no say as to how

         12  the funds were to be allocated in the City.

         13                 It seems to me the proper thing would

         14  have been taking 38% or whatever percent is

         15  reasonable out of the bond issue, we're giving to

         16  the City, to the Mayor, to DEP, to Parks, and you

         17  allocate it as you see appropriate.  No, not a

         18  chance.  They allocated.  That's the third reason.

         19  They gave it all out themselves.  And fourth, they

         20  gave it out to people they liked.  So for those four

         21  reasons, the State's administration of the bond

         22  issue has been an enormous injustice.  And I urge

         23  the City not to approve any more of these bond

         24  issues.  Why should we bail them out?  Of course

         25  they'll find some other back door way to finance
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          2  them and they'll take it all for themselves, but why

          3  should the City go along?  Why should the Mayor urge

          4  the State to take on additional debt which our

          5  taxpayers are going to have to pay off over the

          6  years if we're not going to be the beneficiaries of

          7  a reasonable number of the projects that are built

          8  under this bond issue?

          9                 So my advice to the Committee would

         10  be to, even though they say it's the environment,

         11  and even though they have green pictures, and even

         12  if they say it's for jobs, even if they say it's for

         13  you, not to do it unless you have an ironclad,

         14  legally enforceable agreement in advance that a

         15  share of the bond issue pro rata according to

         16  population will go to the Mayor of the City of New

         17  York to distribute for projects within the five

         18  boroughs.  That would be my suggestion.

         19            CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.  You

         20  would also be familiar with previous bond issues.  I

         21  guess it was in 1972 --- I know that Governor Cuomo

         22  tried to do one in 1990, it didn't go.  Is it

         23  historical for bond issues like this to have that

         24  kind of structure where the Governor just passes it

         25  out according to...
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          2                 MR. STERN:  Absolutely.  The Governor

          3  or EDC having a heavy role in some of them.  It is

          4  totally historical.  The whole rip off started over

          5  50 years ago, probably before you were born, when in

          6  the year 1947 when I was a small boy or a medium

          7  sized boy, they had a transit bond issue of $500

          8  million and they told the people it would be spent

          9  to build the Second Avenue subway.  Well here it is,

         10  56 years later, the money was spent, and they didn't

         11  build the subway.  They used it for other transit

         12  improvements which they didn't want to finance

         13  through the regular funding programs.  So it's not

         14  unusual for bond money to be converted to other

         15  purposes.  It's not unusual, even when you get money

         16  from the Federal government for new projects.  What

         17  they do is they try to use the Federal funds for

         18  existing projects in order to relieve the pressure

         19  on the budget, and the budget savings they use to

         20  reduce the budget deficit.  So it's extremely

         21  difficult.  Now this is a case where the City is not

         22  being screwed but the City is screwing the funding

         23  agencies, so it's not unusual for the City in this

         24  case OMB would be the lead agency to try in what

         25  they deem to be the City's interest, they're not
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          2  taking the money for themselves, but to divert it

          3  from the purposes which the Federal government

          4  originally intended.

          5                 This is a commonplace practice both

          6  ways.  But as it applies to the State bond issues,

          7  which are supposed to benefit some portion of which

          8  is supposed to benefit some projects in the City of

          9  New York, there's no question that the City has got

         10  the short end of the stick for many years and will

         11  continue to do so in the foreseeable future unless

         12  there are legally enforceable arrangements between

         13  the City and the State guaranteeing the City its

         14  fair share.  If they don't do that, let them go to

         15  the farmers and ask them to vote on the bond issue.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You've outlined

         17  two problems, that the State would use it for its

         18  own purposes and also in the case of the City, the

         19  City may use money intended for other things for

         20  budget gap filling purposes.

         21                 MR. STERN:  Yes, that's when you get

         22  Federal money. Federal money, you try to do whatever

         23  you can with it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  So the moral of

         25  the story is having legally enforceable instruments
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          2  in place that would prevent these kinds of

          3  shenanigans.

          4                 MR. STERN:  Absolutely.  If you don't

          5  get it in writing in advance in a way that can be

          6  enforced in a court of law, do not go out on a limb

          7  for anybody else's bond issues.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Anything that

          9  we can do now? I guess all of these Bond Act monies

         10  are almost or close to fully committed.  We heard

         11  testimony that there's still about $170 million

         12  worth of uncommitted Brownfields kind of money on

         13  the table, which would be more up for grabs now in

         14  light of the recent signing of the Brownfields bill

         15  that would make it more attractive to move some of

         16  these projects.

         17                 MR. STERN:  That's really a matter

         18  for the Commissioner of Environmental Protection,

         19  Chris Ward, to try to get the best share he can out

         20  of that.  I hope he has better luck than we did in

         21  the Parks field.  But the way I see it, there are a

         22  lot of Brownfields upstate because there is a band

         23  of manufacturing areas and this is the only way to

         24  get jobs in there and the very cleaning up of these

         25  Brownfields, even if nothing is built on the site,
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          2  even if it's left as open space, will provide an

          3  economic benefit to these towns through all the

          4  money that's spent cleaning them up.  So I would

          5  strongly suspect that the vast majority of

          6  Brownfields money would go upstate.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Unless we can

          8  be vigorous, which we have just made a pledge to

          9  when we heard that there was still that fairly

         10  sizable amount of uncommitted monies for

         11  Brownfields.

         12                 MR. STERN:  You should do the best

         13  you can.  It's between the Mayor and Governor, and

         14  hopefully there'll be a tradeoff in which the Mayor

         15  can get funds that the City needs.  But that's the

         16  only City official to whom they will listen, and it

         17  doesn't happen that often either because their

         18  interests are separate.  See we need a

         19  Schwarzenegger to scare them into giving us our fair

         20  share.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Henry, if you

         22  would for the benefit of the people that are going

         23  to be watching this on Crosswalks, New York Civic.

         24  I know you have a website and an email and I would

         25  like to give the people the benefit of knowing what

                                                            67

          1

          2  that is.

          3                 MR. STERN:  Thank you very much, Mr.

          4  Chairman.  Our website is www.nycivic.org and on

          5  that website we have the 78 articles I've written in

          6  the last 20 months about New York City affairs.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  How many

          8  articles?

          9                 MR. STERN:  Seventy eight, the most

         10  recent came up today and I'll give you a copy

         11  because you probably haven't been back to your

         12  office yet, it's about Schwarzenegger and the one I

         13  wrote last week, I attended the memorial service for

         14  Senator Moynihan.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I was there,

         16  too.

         17                 MR. STERN:  Wasn't that touching?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes.

         19                 MR. STERN:  It was good that you came

         20  because it's special.  He was very special.  The way

         21  you get on the list to receive these emails which

         22  are free.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I was going to

         24  say, because they can get those on an email basis.

         25                 MR. STERN:  Directly and free, and we
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          2  have over seven thousand subscribers, all of whom

          3  were secured personally. We don't do mass mailings,

          4  we don't send to strangers, we don't send to anyone

          5  unless they exhibit a desire to have them.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  However, if

          7  people were to access that site and to send you an

          8  email indicating that they're interested in getting

          9  these articles...

         10                 MR. STERN:  We'd send them right

         11  away.  Now there are two ways.  You can either

         12  access the site, www.nycivic.org or you can send me

         13  a message and I'll be glad to talk to you.  My email

         14  address is Starquest.  That's my park name.  We gave

         15  out over 10,400 park names in the six years I

         16  conducted this program as Parks Commissioner and

         17  most leading City officials have names.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Like me.

         19                 MR. STERN:  Yes, like you, Earthman,

         20  and which relates to your concern for the

         21  environment.  My email address is

         22  starquest@nycivic.org, so if you email me I will be

         23  glad to put you on the list and to let you know what

         24  we're doing.  And it's very nice of you, Mr.

         25  Chairman, to give me the opportunity to tell people
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          2  about it.  And if you don't want it, we take you

          3  right off. You just send an unsubscribe thing and

          4  you go off, because we make it a point of pride not

          5  to send anything to anybody who doesn't want it.

          6  This is not a sale or a business.  It's all free.

          7  We don't make any money from people who are on it.

          8  So if you don't want it, just let us know.  And

          9  secondly, we never give your name to anybody else.

         10  So if you want a certain body part enlarged, we are

         11  not the people to go to see that you receive those

         12  solicitations.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I don't really

         14  know what to say.

         15                 MR. STERN:  What you say is, I don't

         16  know what you're talking about, Commissioner.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you so

         18  much.

         19                 MR. STERN:  Thank you very much for

         20  giving me the opportunity to testify.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You bet.  Thank

         22  you, Henry. Okay, the next witness is Irene Shen of

         23  the New York City Environmental Justice Alliance,

         24  and also if there are any representatives from

         25  WHEAC, the West Harlem Environmental Action, we had
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          2  expected Peggy Shepard [phonetic] to come.  Irene

          3  Shen, thank you for being here.  Donna De Costanzo,

          4  the counsel for the Committee, will give the oath

          5  and then we'll be very grateful to have your

          6  statement.

          7                 MS. SHEN:  Okay.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  It's my

          9  understanding that we have representatives of WHEAC.

         10  Please take your seat at the table. Donna De

         11  Costanzo the counsel to the Committee will

         12  administer the oath, which is our little ritual

         13  here, after which we'll hear the testimony of Ms.

         14  Shen first and then the other witness and we'll both

         15  ask questions at the same time, once both statements

         16  are made. Donna?

         17                 MS. DE COSTANZO:  Please raise your

         18  right hand.  In the testimony that you are about to

         19  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         20  whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

         21                 MS. SHEN:  I do.

         22                 MR. GREAVES:  I do.

         23                 MS. DE COSTANZO:  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         25  Please state your name for the record and your

                                                            71

          1

          2  organization, and we'll proceed.

          3                 MS. SHEN:  Okay.  My name is Irene

          4  Shen and I'm with the New York City Environmental

          5  Justice Alliance.  Good afternoon. As you know my

          6  name is Irene Shen, and I'm the new Director of the

          7  Open Space Equity Campaign at the New York City

          8  Environmental Justice Alliance.  Many of you are

          9  probably familiar with my predecessor, Hugh Hogan.

         10  NYCEJA is a citywide network of grassroots community

         11  based organizations in low income communities of

         12  color who struggle for cleaner, healthier and safer

         13  environments, and against environmental racism and

         14  discrimination.

         15                 I am testifying today to call for the

         16  equitable distribution of resources to New York

         17  City's low income communities of color.  While I am

         18  still learning the details of the Clean Water/Clean

         19  Air Bond Act, to the best of my knowledge, all the

         20  money of the Bond Act has already been appropriated

         21  with the exception of some Brownfields money now

         22  subsumed under the new Brownfields legislation.

         23  Currently the main funding stream of New York State

         24  environmental projects is through the Environmental

         25  Protection Fund.

                                                            72

          1

          2                 At this point, our time would be

          3  better spent devising a plan to secure equitable

          4  funding for the City's environmental projects

          5  through the EPF and future funding streams rather

          6  than fighting to overturn appropriated monies.  We

          7  need proactive planning to ensure that future

          8  available funds come into New York City and

          9  particularly to our under served communities.

         10                 The current resolution is based on

         11  findings from NYCEJA's 2001 report, New York's Urban

         12  Environment Under Funded and Under Served.  It shows

         13  that the monies from the Bond Act and the EPF were

         14  not equitably distributed to New York City.  Unless

         15  all of the remaining funds since 2000 were

         16  appropriated to New York City projects, it's

         17  impossible that the City received its fair share of

         18  distributed funds.  It's no secret that

         19  environmental racism and discrimination, whether

         20  intentional or otherwise, play a role in the lack of

         21  funding into New York City as over 70% of the people

         22  of color in New York State reside in New York City,

         23  and only 13.5% of people of color live in the

         24  richest five counties of the State.  As of 2000,

         25  these five counties received $23 more per person in
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          2  Bond Act and EPF commitments than the poorest five

          3  counties, which include both the Bronx and Kings

          4  counties.  This is a huge amount of funding when

          5  calculated over millions of New York State

          6  residents.

          7                 Of the money that New York City did

          8  receive through the Bond Act and the EPF, the same

          9  patterns of environmental racism and discrimination

         10  emerge.  For example, in 2000, 68% of Manhattan's

         11  commitments funded the Hudson River Park Project,

         12  which is adjacent to predominantly white

         13  communities.  Another example is in Staten Island,

         14  which received most open space commitments in the

         15  City's five counties, but is the borough with the

         16  smallest percentage of people of color and the

         17  highest ratio of open space access.  Finally, in the

         18  Bronx, an example of a project which was funded in a

         19  low income community of color was Hunts Point Sewage

         20  Treatment Plant Expansion, a project that most

         21  communities would consider the growth of an already

         22  existing environmental burden.

         23                 Following NYCEJA's report on the Bond

         24  Act and the EPF, I found little additional reporting

         25  by the State.  The most current financial report on
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          2  Bond Act spending is from Fiscal Year 2000- 2001,

          3  which fails to break down projects and awards by

          4  county. Not only is the State's report two years out

          5  of date and difficult to draw information from, but

          6  it was still not updated on the State's DEC website

          7  as of last week.  It is a tragedy that so little

          8  attention has been paid to the tracking of

          9  invaluable monies that could have helped struggling

         10  communities initiate significant projects for

         11  improving their communities.

         12                 While I support the intention of this

         13  Resolution, it appears that the prior City Council

         14  should have initiated this issue when monies were

         15  still available.  As we wait for our bureaucracies

         16  to correct their failure to create objective

         17  standards for equitable distribution of funds,

         18  environmental burdens are devastating our

         19  communities and our children as they are stricken

         20  with asthma, hypertension, diabetes, and obesity.

         21                 Before I took my position with

         22  NYCJEA, I was a New York City public school teacher.

         23    Ninety nine percent of my students were of color.

         24  I can say with certainty that nearly every one of my

         25  students either had asthma or knew someone with
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          2  asthma. They missed school because they couldn't

          3  breathe or they fell asleep in class because they

          4  spent most of the night in the City's hospitals

          5  being treated for asthma attacks, or they spent

          6  their day in school self medicating themselves with

          7  inhalers.  It is both painful and tragic to see a

          8  generation of young people of color dying when we

          9  have the power to prevent many of these health

         10  problems.

         11                 We do not have the luxury of time.

         12  Instead of creating new parks, redeveloping

         13  waterfronts or preserving community gardens, with

         14  transfer stations, bus depots, and power plants are

         15  expanding in low income communities of color while

         16  we wait, money that New York City communities need

         17  and deserve is slipping away.  We can not afford to

         18  let the State get away with this inequity of funding

         19  distribution.  New York City communities should not

         20  be begging for leftover crumbs from the Bond Act,

         21  especially when it was New York City's voters whose

         22  overwhelming support got the Bond Act passed.

         23  Instead, city, state, and federal governments should

         24  be directing funds to meet our needs.

         25                 Recommendations.  The City must
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          2  create a plan that ensures an equitable distribution

          3  of funds under the EPF which is now the major source

          4  of environmental funding.  There is a need for more

          5  equity to New York City as a whole and within the

          6  boroughs. More funding is desperately needed to

          7  preserve and create more green, open space.

          8  Brownfields to Greenfields projects, urban forestry

          9  planning and planting and continued support for

         10  waterfront redevelopment must be funded in

         11  neighborhoods like Bushwick, Bedford Styvesant,

         12  Sunset Park, Harlem, and the south Bronx.  The City

         13  Council should urge that the State recognize our

         14  borough presidents as the municipal sponsors for the

         15  purpose of sponsoring projects.  A major reason that

         16  New York City did not receive its fair share was the

         17  Giuliani Administration's submittal of only about

         18  three percent of the applications that the State

         19  received between 1996 and 2000.

         20                 In addition, individual City Council

         21  Members, particularly those representing

         22  neighborhoods most severely lacking in open space

         23  and ravaged with environmental burdens should be

         24  working with their constituents and grassroots

         25  groups to identify projects that the State could
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          2  support through the EPF and future funding streams.

          3  New York City should not have to compete with the

          4  suburbs and rural areas to receive its fair share.

          5  The State should have a long term comprehensive

          6  state funded program to address the environmental

          7  needs of its cities.  As part of such a program, the

          8  State could set up an incentive program for the

          9  City. Under such a system, if the City preserves a

         10  piece of land as open space, the State could grant

         11  one half the appraised value of the land to invest

         12  in ongoing maintenance and stewardship.  This would

         13  go a long way toward funding new acquisition

         14  projects, including the protection of community

         15  gardens, and provide longer term support.  I urge

         16  the City Council to demand equitable distribution of

         17  environmental protection fund monies and future

         18  environmental funding streams for New York City's

         19  environmental projects.  I look forward to hearing

         20  about your next steps toward ensuring that New York

         21  City communities become less toxic, more green, and

         22  more liveable.  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         24  Thank you for your views.  We're very appreciative

         25  of your being here today.  We'll hear the statement
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          2  of Mr. Greaves and then I'll have comments or

          3  questions for the both of you.  Mr. Greaves,

          4  welcome.  Please give Peggy Shepard our best.

          5  Thanks for being here.  Please state your name for

          6  the record and proceed with your testimony.

          7                 MR. GREAVES:  Good afternoon. My name

          8  is Christopher Greaves.  I'm Communications Director

          9  at West Harlem Environmental Action, a community

         10  based organization which has fought to improve

         11  environmental protection, safeguard public health,

         12  and secure environmental justice in communities of

         13  color for fifteen years. I'd like to thank

         14  Councilman James Gennaro, Chair of the Committee,

         15  Richard Colon and Donna De Costanzo for this

         16  opportunity.

         17                 Firstly, I'm pleased to offer West

         18  Harlem's Environmental Action support for the

         19  proposed Resolution calling upon Governor Pataki to

         20  set objective standards for the award of grants from

         21  Clean Air/Clean Water Bond Act funds, and to ensure

         22  that New York City receives its fair share of said

         23  funds.  We feel it is a gross injustice that City

         24  residents are contributing the largest share of the

         25  revenues that fund both programs while receiving
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          2  only 23% of the Bond Act and Environmental

          3  Protection Funds between 1996 and July 2000.  As New

          4  York City residents continue to breathe some of the

          5  most polluted air in the nation and communities in

          6  northern Manhattan suffer perpetually from a host of

          7  environmentally linked ills, we find these figures

          8  appalling. Something needs to be done forthwith.

          9                 In East Harlem, for instance, we have

         10  a community that leads the country in childhood

         11  asthma hospitalizations. Diesel bus emissions are a

         12  major contributor to this problem.  We feel that in

         13  order to have a significant air quality and public

         14  health benefit, New York should expand its promotion

         15  of compressed natural gas, hybrids, and other

         16  advanced technologies to the private sector, and

         17  should provide funding to retrofit programs of

         18  demonstrated air quality benefits across the full

         19  range of pollutants.  If New York City were able to

         20  secure her fair share of bond funds, diesel

         21  emissions in East Harlem and throughout the City

         22  could be reduced, lessening the presence of an

         23  asthma trigger and carcinogen that is plaguing our

         24  kids.

         25                 We also want to emphasize that a
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          2  systematized and transparent way of administering

          3  bond funds would go a long way in resolving a

          4  variety of issues in our communities ranging from

          5  energy efficiency to waterfront revitalization and

          6  green space development.  Waterfront revitalization,

          7  for example, offers some of the best opportunities

          8  to enhance our City's aesthetic appeal and improve

          9  environmental quality.

         10                 The Harlem River Project, a plan to

         11  develop the Harlem River piers located in northern

         12  Manhattan between Saint Claire Place, the Hudson

         13  River, 133 Street and Broadway, we think is a prime

         14  example of a community based and supported project

         15  that could benefit from bond funds.  It is a chance

         16  for New York State to channel investment into a

         17  project that is bolstered with grassroot support and

         18  brimming with creativity.

         19                 Lastly, as per the Council's

         20  literature, we want to highlight that project

         21  commitments in New York City range from $15.86 per

         22  capita in Brooklyn to $48.22 in the Bronx, while the

         23  per capita commitment in the other fifty seven

         24  counties of the State was $152.00.  We, too, are

         25  incensed by this.  As a myriad of studies have shown
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          2  that people of color suffer disproportionately from

          3  pollutants, we are attuned to the various

          4  socioeconomic forces that lead to distributive

          5  injustice and hence we give our full support to this

          6  Resolution.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

          8  Thank you both for being here and presenting your

          9  views.

         10                 MR. GREAVES:  Can I add one more

         11  thing?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure.

         13                 MR. GREAVES:  We'd like to second the

         14  comments of the Environmental Justice Alliance.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.  I

         16  would, too.  Ms. Shen, with regard to some of the

         17  issues that we have seen with the distribution of

         18  monies from the Bond Act, of course once the Bond

         19  Act is fully committed and all that, we're still

         20  going to have the EPF, that'll be the sort of main

         21  mechanism, and some of the problems that we have

         22  encountered in the Bond Act and are complaining

         23  about today, I guess existed before with the EPF and

         24  will continue with the EPF after the Bond Act is

         25  fully committed. I guess your point is that we
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          2  should make it a point to build fairness and equity

          3  into the EPF in some systematic way that will serve

          4  the benefit of all of our residents and not just

          5  those who are perhaps a little more fortunate.  Does

          6  the New York City Environmental Justice Alliance

          7  have some proposal that it wishes to proffer or some

          8  mechanism or some protocol or some doctrine of

          9  fairness that is spelled out in some detailed way

         10  that you'd like to see put forward for future EPF

         11  funding that we could seek to advance here in the

         12  Council?

         13                 MS. SHEN:  I know previously, and I

         14  don't actually think that this has shifted in the

         15  past couple of years, but those that could sponsor

         16  any of the monies that were coming from the State

         17  had to be the City's Mayor and I think that we

         18  propose that borough presidents actually be the ones

         19  that can actually sponsor different kinds of

         20  projects.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sponsor Bond

         22  Act problems or EPF projects?

         23                 MS. SHEN:  Both.  Because of the

         24  previous Administration's lack of interest in

         25  actually trying to secure any of the funds, I think
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          2  that's one of the reasons why there is such a

          3  deficit in getting projects funded.  There is very

          4  little outreach to actually try to get the monies.

          5  I think because borough presidents act as ---

          6  outside of New York City you have, I don't know,

          7  like towns, you have actual people that are closer

          8  to local projects that can actually fight for monies

          9  into their areas. In New York City, it's just the

         10  Mayor.  And so if there were borough presidents that

         11  could actually do this sort of advocacy for those

         12  projects, I think there would be more money

         13  potentially coming in.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Because outside

         15  the City you have the county executives and all

         16  that.  You're saying that borough presidents are the

         17  closest thing we have to a county executive, which

         18  of course, they're not.  But they could play that

         19  advocacy role in their own borough.

         20                 MS. SHEN:  Right, because otherwise

         21  we're leaving it to an Administration that may or

         22  may not be interested and it's sort of putting all

         23  our eggs in one basket.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And you're

         25  saying the way the EPF currently works it's for the
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          2  executive to sort of put forward projects.  In the

          3  case of a county, the county executive.  In the case

          4  of a municipality, the Mayor.  That's how it's set

          5  up?

          6                 MS. SHEN:  Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  But New York

          8  City having borough presidents in place they could

          9  play some role which they currently do not, is that

         10  fair to say?

         11                 MS. SHEN:  Right.  Yes.  That's as I

         12  understand it. Secondly, a lot of the organizations

         13  in our alliance and a lot of these grassroots

         14  organizations that I think both WHEAC and I are

         15  talking about, they don't necessarily have the

         16  monies, because it's a reimbursable system, they

         17  don't have enough money necessarily to put forth

         18  project money in the beginning, and so I think that

         19  puts them at a disadvantage in terms of having to

         20  prove that they have matching funds to back up their

         21  projects.  I think that's another obstacle.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         23                 MS. SHEN:  Sure.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.  Mr.

         25  Greaves, I'd like to take this opportunity to thank
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          2  you for your testimony as well.  I don't know if

          3  there's any other entity that's testified more

          4  before the Committee than WHEAC in terms of

          5  environmental groups.  I think WHEAC holds the

          6  record of the number of times it has come before the

          7  Committee.  I thank you on behalf of the Council for

          8  the great work that you always do.

          9                 I just want to make reference to part

         10  of your statement.  You talk about the Harlem on the

         11  river project, is that a project that you tried to

         12  get funding from the Bond Act for, or from other

         13  sources?  What's the status of that project?

         14                 MR. GREAVES:  There's no funding from

         15  the Bond Act, but the project is underway.  We have

         16  the area designed and that kind of thing.  We have

         17  some commitments but we think that the bond fund

         18  could be another way of tapping into monies for

         19  that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Are there still

         21  uncommitted Bond Act monies available to fund such a

         22  project?  Or EPF?

         23                 MR. GREAVES:  I'm not sure.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I'll tell you

         25  what, if there's any way that we can be of help in
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          2  helping you with this specific project that you

          3  mentioned here in your statement, please be sure to

          4  let us know.  I'd like to try and help out.

          5                 MR. GREAVES:  Okay.

          6                 MS. SHEN:  One more thing.  Are you

          7  done with Mr. Greaves?  I just thought of another

          8  thing in answer to your question.  There's a part in

          9  the original resolution that talks about how there's

         10  no sort of answer to why projects didn't get funded.

         11    I think we experienced a similar thing with one of

         12  our organizations.  They submitted a proposal and it

         13  got denied, but in its denial they were asked to

         14  resubmit a sort of revised edition. So they did that

         15  and then a year later they got funded for the

         16  original proposal and basically there's no

         17  information given about why the first didn't go

         18  through the first time but then suddenly it did.  I

         19  think there's just a number of inconsistencies and

         20  confusions that are not laid out anywhere.  If we

         21  could be sort of particular about the details.

         22                 MR. GREAVES:  I also wanted to add,

         23  if I can, since there was as far as we understand no

         24  definitive interpretation of the legislation saying

         25  that borough presidents could not participate that
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          2  in the revision of the legislation that be added to

          3  it, if possible.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Certainly that

          5  point makes sense.  We appreciate your coming here

          6  and articulating that. Thank you very much for being

          7  here, I appreciate it.

          8                 MR. GREAVES:  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Keep up the

         10  good work.  With no one else wishing to be heard,

         11  thank you all for coming.  This hearing is

         12  adjourned.

         13                 (Hearing concluded at 3:15 p.m.)
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